

# SUSTAINABLE FISHERIES MANAGEMENT PROJECT (SFMP)

Supporting The Fisheries
Commission's Community Fisheries
Watchdog Committees: Review of the
Ghanaian Legal Context

**APRIL 2016** 



















This publication is available electronically on the Coastal Resources Center's website at <a href="http://www.crc.uri.edu/projects\_page/ghanasfmp/">http://www.crc.uri.edu/projects\_page/ghanasfmp/</a>

For more information on the Ghana Sustainable Fisheries Management Project, contact:

USAID/Ghana Sustainable Fisheries Management Project

Coastal Resources Center

Graduate School of Oceanography

University of Rhode Island

220 South Ferry Rd.

Narragansett, RI 02882 USA

Tel: 401-874-6224 Fax: 401-874-6920 Email: info@crc.uri.edu

**Citation**: Tuinese Edward Amuzu, SSG Advisors (2016). Supporting the Fisheries

Commission's Community Fisheries Watchdog Committees: Review of the Ghanaian Legal Context. The USAID/Ghana Sustainable Fisheries Management Project (SFMP). Narragansett, RI: Coastal Resources Center, Graduate School of

Oceanography, University of Rhode Island and SSG

Advisors.GH2014\_POL050\_SSG. 14 pp.

#### **Authority/Disclaimer:**

Prepared for USAID/Ghana under Cooperative Agreement (AID-641-A-15-00001), awarded on October 22, 2014 to the University of Rhode Island, and entitled the USAID/Ghana Sustainable Fisheries Management Project (SFMP).

This document is made possible by the support of the American People through the United States Agency for International Development (USAID). The views expressed and opinions contained in this report are those of the SFMP team and are not intended as statements of policy of either USAID or the cooperating organizations. As such, the contents of this report are the sole responsibility of the SFMP team and do not necessarily reflect the views of USAID or the United States Government.

#### Detailed Partner Contact Information: USAID/Ghana Sustainable Fisheries Management Project (SFMP) 10 Obodai St., Mempeasem, East Legon, Accra, Ghana

**Brian Crawford** Chief of Party brian@crc.uri.edu nlazar@crc.uri.edu Najih Lazar Senior Fisheries Advisor patricia.sfmp@crcuri.org Patricia Mensah **Communications Officer** Bakari Nyari Monitoring and Evaluation Specialist hardinyari.sfmp@crcuri.org Don Robadue, Jr. don@crc.uri.edu Program Manager, CRC iodoi@usaid.gov Justice Odoi USAID Administrative Officer Representative

Kofi.Agbogah

<u>kagbogah@henmpoano.org</u>

Thomas Buck

StephenKankam tom@ssg-advisors.com

skankam@henmpoano.orgSSG AdvisorsHen Mpoano182 Main Street38 J. Cross Cole St. Windy RidgeBurlington, VT 05401Takoradi, Ghana(802) 735-1162

233 312 020 701

Andre de Jager

Victoria C. Koomson

<u>cewefia@gmail.com</u>

<u>adejager@snvworld.org</u> CEWEFIA

SNV Netherlands Development Oganization B342 Bronyibima Estate #161, 10 Maseru Road, Elmina, Ghana E. Legon, Accra, Ghana 233 024 427 8377

233 30 701 2440

Lydia Sasu
Donkris Mevuta

daawomen@daawomen.org

Kyei Yamoah DA

<u>info@fonghana.org</u>

Friends of the Nation

Darkuman Junction, Kaneshie Odokor

Highway

Parks and Gardens Accra, Ghana Adiembra-Sekondi, Ghana 233 302 315894

233 312 046 180

Peter Owusu Donkor <u>giftyasmah@Daasgift.org</u>
Spatial Solutions Daasgift Quality Foundation

<u>powusu-donkor@spatialdimension.net</u>

Headmaster residence, Sekondi College

Gifty Asmah

#3 Third Nautical Close, Sekondi, Western Region, Ghana Nungua, Accra, Ghana 233 243 326 178

233 020 463 4488

For additional information on partner activities: CRC/URI: <a href="http://www.crc.uri.edu">http://www.crc.uri.edu</a>
CEWEFIA: <a href="http://cewefia.weebly.com/">http://cewefia.weebly.com/</a>

DAA: <a href="http://womenthrive.org/development-action-association-daa">http://womenthrive.org/development-action-association-daa</a>
Daasgift: <a href="https://www.facebook.com/pages/Daasgift-Quality-Foundation-daa">https://www.facebook.com/pages/Daasgift-Quality-Foundation-daa</a>

FNGO/135372649846101

Friends of the Nation: <a href="http://www.fonghana.org">http://www.fonghana.org</a>
Hen Mpoano: <a href="http://www.henmpoano.org">http://www.henmpoano.org</a>

SNV: http://www.snvworld.org/en/countries/ghana

SSG Advisors: http://ssg-advisors.com/

Spatial Solutions: http://www.spatialsolutions.co/id1.html

#### **ACRONYMS**

BD Bantay Dugat

CRC Coastal Resources Center at the Graduate School of Oceanography, University

of Rhode Island

EEZ Exclusive Economic Zone
FEU Fisheries Enforcement Unit
FC Fisheries Commission

FWCs Fisheries Watchdog Committees

GNCFC Ghana National Canoe Fishermen Council

IUU Illegal Unreported Unregulated

MCSU Monitoring, Control and Surveillance Unit

MOFAD Ministry of Fisheries and Aquaculture Development NAFPTA National Fish Processors and Traders Association

NGOs Non-Governmental Organizations

SFMP Sustainable Fisheries Management Project

SSG SSG Advisors

URI University of Rhode Island

USAID United States Agency for International Development

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Acronyms	iii
Introduction And Summary	1
Methodology	1
Summary Of Conclusions	1
Background	1
Importance Of Fishing To Ghana	1
Legal Reponses	1
Constitutional Provisions	2
The Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625)	2
Fisheries Law Enforcement	2
FEU	2
The FWC Initiative: A Way Forward	2
Legal Basis For FWCs – Domestic Law	3
1992 Constitution	4
Citizen Participation In Governance – Articles 35(6) (D); 202(2) (E)	4
Duty Of The Individual To Protect And Safeguard The Environment - Article 41 (K	3)4
Creation Of An Armed Force Under Article 210 (2) Or Request For Personnel For Tenforcement Unit Under Section 94, Act 625	
The Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625)	5
Enforcement By Authorized Officers Only	6
Effects Of Li 1961 On The Role Of District Assemblies	6
Criminal Procedure And Other Offenses (Procedure) Act, 1960 (Act 30)	6
Conclusions	7
Recommendations	7
Rihliography	Q

#### INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

This report reviews the legal basis for the introduction and implementation of a community-based enforcement initiative, called the Fisheries Watchdog Committees (FWCs), to support sustainable fisheries management in Ghana. This program would be led and supported by the Government of Ghana with additional support provided by the Sustainable Fisheries Management Project (SFMP) funded by the U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID).

#### Methodology

This assignment was undertaken through a review of relevant Ghanaian law, secondary data, and interviews with key stakeholders in Ghana. The key stakeholders interviewed included members of the Fisheries Commission (FC), law enforcement, and non-governmental organizations.

#### **Summary of Conclusions**

There is no express provision of Ghanaian law that prescribes the establishment of the FWCs by the Ministry of Fisheries and Aquaculture Development (MOFAD). However, the combined effect of articles 35(6)(d); 36(9); 41(k); 240(2) of the 1992 Constitution and sections 2(2)(o) and 94(4) of the Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625) is that the FWCs can be lawfully established by the Minister of Fisheries and piloted immediately.

However, for FWC volunteers to place a more robust role in fisheries enforcement, including engaging in arrests or seizures, it is appropriate to operate with an express backing of the law, in light of the serious nature of the involvement of citizens in fisheries law enforcement activities. This would require an amendment to the existing Fisheries Act

#### BACKGROUND

#### Importance of Fishing to Ghana

Fishing is important to the development of Ghana's economy at 5 percent of Ghana's GDP, with exports growing. The artisanal fishing industry contributes nearly 70% of the total national fish cath. Fish are also an important source of protein to residents in Ghana with almost three fourths of Ghana's catch consumed domestically.<sup>3</sup>

The fishing industry in Ghana is under threat from unacceptable fishing methods and overfishing. These fishing methods include the use of light aggregating devices, the use of unapproved nets, pair trawling, the use of chemicals, and dynamite and other explosives.

#### **Legal Reponses**

Legal responses to these threats include constitutional provisions, the Fisheries Act, and law enforcement activities, including those of the Fisheries Enforcement Unit (FEU).

<sup>1</sup> The secondary sources of information consulted include 1992 Constitution and Acts of Parliament such as the Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625); the Criminal and other offences (Procedure) Act, 1960 (Act 30); the Ghana Police Service Act, 1970 (Act 350); the Ghana Maritime Authority Act, 2002 (Act 630); the Chieftaincy Act, 2008 (Act 759); the Ghana Maritime Security Act, 2004 (Act 675); and the Forestry Commission Act, 1999 (Act 571). The Subsidiary legislations reviewed include LI 1968, 2010; LI 1571, 1992 and LI 1599, 1994.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The stakeholders include members of the Fisheries Commission, the Monitoring, Control and Surveillance Unit, the Marine Police and civil society groups such as the National Canoe Fishermen Council, Fish Processors, the Fisheries Alliance, Friends of the Nation, and Oil Watch Ghana.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Ghana Export Promotion Council

#### **Constitutional Provisions**

The 1992 Constitution of Ghana in article 36(9) requires the State to take appropriate measures to protect the national environment. The State is also at liberty to seek the cooperation of other States and bodies for the purposes of protecting the wider international environment for mankind. In addition to the responsibility of the State to safeguard the environment, article 41(k) of the 1992 Constitution obligated *individual citizens* to take action to protect and safeguard the environment.

#### The Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625)

The Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625) regulates unacceptable fisheries practices. For instance section 92 of Act 625 provides that "a person who directly or indirectly introduces a deleterious substance into the fishery waters which adversely affects the habitat or health of the fish or other living aquatic resource commits an offense and is liable o summary conviction to a fine no less than \$50,000 and not more than \$2 million where a local industrial or semi-industrial vessel or a foreign fishing vessel is used in the commission of the offense, or 50 penalty units and not more than 500 penalty units in any other case."

#### Fisheries Law Enforcement

In order to effectively enforce the provisions of Act 625, the law established the FEU in section 94 as part of the FC. Section 94 provides that the FEU will be responsible for "monitoring, control, and surveillance of all fishing operations within the fishery waters by whatever appropriate means, including the management and running of a satellite base station for using satellite communications for data transmission relating to the activities of foreign fishing vessels licensed to operate within the [Exclusive Economic Zone (EEZ)] and the enforcement of the Act, Regulations made under the Act and any other enactment relating to the regulation of fishing activities."

#### **FEU**

The FEU comprises of personnel from the Ghana Navy, Ghana Air Force, and the Secretariat of the FC. These personnel are given police and other powers under the Act when they perform their duties within the Ghanaian EEZ and beyond the limits of the EEZ when the need arises. They are also given full insurance coverage for the duration of their sea duties, as well as indemnity from prosecution for acts done in good faith in the performance of their functions under the Act.

To compliment and support the work of the FEU, the USAID SFMP and the FC plan to introduce a community-based FWC initiative, drawing on trained community volunteers to support enforcement activities.

Act 625 empowers the Minister to request personnel from other Departments, agencies, of State, and other competent bodies or organizations to assist the FEU. It is reasonable to assume that other competent bodies or organizations include civil society organizations.

#### The FWC Initiative: A Way Forward

The FWC program is to be modeled on the successful "Bantay Dagat (BD)" program in the Philippines. The BD network is a network of fishermen who volunteer to aid in the detection and reporting of illegal fishing. They conduct patrols together with marine law enforcement and sometimes, BD also plays a more active enforcement role, directly engaging and

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Section 97 of Act 625

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Sections 104 and 105 of Act 625

arresting illegal fishing suspects. The BD also plays a role in educating local communities on good fishing practices and promoting sustainable fishing.

While the final and specific mandate and scope for the FWCs will need to be determined by MOFAD and SFMP, it is imagined that FWC volunteer could engage in the following activities during the program's initial pilot phase:

- Conduct seaborne and land-based patrols for visibility and monitoring
- Educate fishers on fisheries and other relevant environmental laws
- Listen to stakeholders and collect feedback and information
- Coherent reporting of infractions to the police and fisheries authorities
- Assist in gathering evidence on fisheries infractions to facilitate conviction of violators
- Serve as witnesses in court proceedings
- Ensure that all canoes or vessels at the landing site or beach are registered, and maintain a list of active fishermen at specified sites.

In the long term, however, the FWC volunteers could potentially take on the following additional activities – if approved by MOFAD and supported by an Amendment to the Fisheries Act to make explicit legal provisions for the program (see **Recommendations** at the end of this document).

- Conduct monitoring and inspection of various fishing activities at the beach, fish landing sites or local markets to ensure compliance with established rules and regulations on fishing, processing, handling and sanitation, among others.
- Conduct warrantless arrest and seizure of articles used as instruments in illegal activity or illegally caught fish, in coordination with a composite team, including FEU agents.
- Undertake fish examination conducted by a qualified and trained volunteer posted in strategic areas in the community and duly supervised by the appropriate government authority.
- Actively coordinate with various institutions in the enforcement chain (law enforcement, prosecutor and the Courts) to ensure high probability of arrest and prosecution of violators.
- Actively promote community-based fisheries management and conservation through various activities designed to elicit the participation of fishing communities and other relevant stakeholders.

To design and implement a FWC program in Ghana, the Government of Ghana and SFMP need to fully understand the regulatory and legal basis for such a program. This report seek to explore the extent to which the current policy and regulatory in Ghana would support such a program and any legal or policy changes that might be necessary for the FWCs to be successful and sustainable in Ghana.

#### LEGAL BASIS FOR FWCS - DOMESTIC LAW

Domestic laws and policies that could serve as a legal basis for the FWCs include the 1992 Constitution and several Acts of Parliament. Certain Acts of Parliament, such as the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) Act, 1994 (Act 490); the Ghana Maritime Authority Act, 2002 (Act 630); the Chieftaincy Act, 2008 (Act 759); the Ghana Maritime Security Act, 2004 (Act 675); and the Forestry Commission Act, 1999 (Act 571) that tangentially deal with the subject, were considered but not examined in detail.

#### 1992 Constitution

The 1992 Constitution is the fundamental law of Ghana. Some provisions of the Constitution are relevant to the establishment of the FWCs in Ghana. These include citizen participation in governance, the duty of the state to protect the environment, the duty of the individual to protect and safeguard the environment, and the creation of armed forces.

#### Citizen Participation in Governance – Articles 35(6) (d); 202(2) (e)

Article 35(6) (d) of the 1992 Constitution requires the State to involve ordinary citizens in decision making processes. The Constitution also emphasizes the need to "make democracy a reality by decentralizing the administrative and financial machinery of government to the regions and the districts. The will afford the people all possible opportunities to participate in decision making at every level in national life and in government." This is one of the constitutional bases for citizens' involvement in the management of public resources in Ghana.

Ghana practices a decentralized form of government. The Constitution encourages devolution of authority to decentralized structures. The same idea is found in article 240 (2) (e) of the Constitution. Article 240 (e) provides that in order to ensure the accountability of local government authorities, people shall, as far as practicable, be afforded the opportunity to participate effectively in their governance. The Fisheries Watchdog Program may be established in collaboration with relevant metropolitan and District Assemblies or other competent organizations as envisaged under section 94 (4) of the Fisheries Act and in fulfillment of article 240 of the 1992 Constitution.

#### Duty of the Individual to Protect and Safeguard the Environment – Article 41 (k)

Article 41 (k) places a duty on citizens to take actions to protect the environment. It provides that the rights and freedoms of a citizen are inseparable from these duties and obligations/ the marine environment is not excluded in this article.

## Creation of an Armed Force under Article 210 (2) or Request for Personnel for the Enforcement Unit under Section 94, Act 625

Setting up a FWC program in which ordinary citizens may monitor, report, and perhaps arrest in response to infractions of fisheries laws may appear to be an exercise in the creation of an "armed force." This may be the case whether members of the group are actually armed with "weapons" or not. Article 210 (2) provides that no person shall raise an armed force except by or under the authority of an Act of Parliament. In view of this, article 202 (2) of the 1992 Constitution is relevant to the FWC program.

The functions of FWC members may also amount to the provision of security service by private security organizations. Section 38 of the Police Services Act, 1970 (Act 350) regulates the activities of private security organizations. According to Section 38 of Act 350, a private security organization is any organization "which undertakes private investigations as to facts or which performs services of watching, guarding, patrolling, but does not include the Police Services, Prisons Service, or the Armed Forces of Ghana."

The activities of the FWC members may be akin to those of the Neighborhood Watch Committees. Neighborhood Watch Committees are recognized as a system for the provision of security in Ghana. It is important to note that the Police Service Act does not regulate the activities of the Neighborhood Watch Committees. <sup>6</sup> Therefore, there is no legal instrument

<sup>6</sup> This is the case although the Minister of Interior may by Regulations control the establishment and operations of any private security organizations. The Regulations so far passed, thus Legislative Instruments 1571 of 1992 and 1579 of 1994 govern the activities of registered, commercial private security organizations

for the regulation of the activities of not-for-profit private security systems such as Neighborhood Watch Committees, nor the activities of NGOs that are involved in the security sector.

Since the Fisheries Watchdog Program will not be run commercially or for profit, it will *not* fall under Regulations passed under Act 350. While the FWC may look like a private arrangement, they will actually operate under the direction of the FEU. Therefore, the FWC program has to complement the efforts of the FEU and Marine Police to provide security and investigate activities in the marine environment.

Article 210 (2) may be read with section 94 (4) of the Fisheries Act. Under section 94 (4), the Minister of Fisheries has the authority to request state institutions and other competent organizations to collaborate with the FEU established under section 94 (1) in the implementation of the Fisheries Act. This means personnel from other departments, agencies of State *or other competent bodies* may assist the Enforcement Unit in the performance of its functions.

When article 210 (2) of the 1992 Constitution and Section 94 of the Fisheries Act, 2002, are read together, the combined effect of these provisions is that the Minister can institute the FWC program under the mandate of the Enforcement Unit. Such an establishment, even if it is labeled in the extreme case as an "armed force," could be created under the authority of Parliament and the Minister. However, in order to avoid any ambiguity as to the legal basis of the FWC program, it may still be appropriate to introduce clear provisions into the Fisheries Act defining the Fisheries Watchdog Program.

Section 94 can be amended to make provision for the creation of the FWC (see proposed Legal Framework and language for a draft amendment in the SFMP *Supporting the Fisheries Commission's Community Fisheries Watchdog Committees: Design Document*). Pending amendments to Act 625, the Minister of Fisheries is at liberty to work with the Minister for Local Government and Rural Development to set up the FWC program. This could mean that all coastal Metropolitan, Municipal, and District Assemblies work with various community groups to furnish the Minister of Fisheries with a list of proposed personnel to participate in the program. The Minister is also at liberty to work with "competent organizations" such as the Ghana National Canoe Fishermen Council (GNCFC) to establish the FWC program.

#### The Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625)

The Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625) provides for the regulation and management of marine resources in Ghana. The Act governs the development of the fisheries industry and seeks to move toward sustainable use of the fishery resources. The law achieves its mandate through the FC.<sup>7</sup> The functions of the Commission are among others, "in collaboration with District Assemblies and with fishing communities, ensure the enforcement of the fishery laws including by-laws made by the relevant District Assemblies."

There is no direct provision in the Fisheries Act that mandates or prescribes the establishment of the FWCs. However, there is also no provision prohibiting the establishment of the FWCs. In this absence, section 2 (2) (0) together with 94 (4) provide a legal basis for the involvement of District Assemblies or other competent organizations, such as the Ghana National Canoe Fishermen Council, in the governance of fisheries resources.

If the FWC program only concerns activities of artisanal fishermen, it is worth noting that the Minister fo Fisheries is mandated to regulate artisanal fishing activities through the Fisheries

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The functions of the Fisheries Commission are captured in section 2(2) of Act 625

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Section 2(2) (o), Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625).

Act. Section 59 of the Fisheries Act provides that, "the Minister may on the recommendation of the Commission make such further provisions as the Minister considers necessary for regulating artisanal fishing." This provides legal space for the establishment of the FWC program by the Minister through Regulations if the intent is to ensure compliance with fishing laws by artisanal fishermen.

#### **Enforcement by Authorized Officers Only**

It could be argued that the enforcement powers under the Fisheries Act can only be exercised by "authorized officers" who are given police powers. Currently the list of "authorized officers" is limited to personnel of the FEU of the FC, personnel of the Ghana Navy and Air Force deployed for fisheries duties, officers of the Water Research Institute, and the fisheries officers of the secretariat of the FC.<sup>9</sup>

However, the Minister of Fisheries has the power to appoint, in writing, any public officer as an authorized officer. Although no official from any District Assembly has been appointed as an "authorized officer," the Minister is at liberty to appoint officers of District Assemblies as "authorized officers" at any time. The Minister may also lawfully appoint members of competent organizations as authorized officers and no law prohibits the Minister from appointing members of "competent" organizations. Competency in this context may be understood to include the legitimacy of the organization, such as lawful establishment and a relevant organizational mission. Civil society groups and fisherfolk associations – National Fish Processors and Traders Association (NAFPTA) and GNCFC – may be assessed for consideration as "competent organizations." For the purposes of this assessment, criteria must be developed to engender transparency in the selection process. The technical competence of individuals from competent organizations may also be examined by the Minister and may be achieved through appropriate personnel training.

#### Effects of LI 1961 on the Role of District Assemblies

It is worth noting that the District Assemblies have a mandate to coordinate, integrate, and harmonize the execution of programs promoted or carried out by Ministries, Departments, public organizations, and other statutory bodies and NGOs in the district. <sup>10</sup> If the FWC will be carried out in collaboration with the GNCFC, the various District Assemblies could be involved for the purposes of coordinating these activities with other activities within the Districts.

District Assemblies also have the power to make by-laws in relation to fisheries, although it may be argued that the Local Government (Department of District Assemblies) (Commencement) Instrument, 2009 (LI 1961) only empowers District Assemblies to contribute to the enforcement of fisheries legislation and education, without giving them any explicit rule-making powers. However, the absence of specific corresponding powers for District Assemblies in LI 1961 cannot be used to limit the mandate of District Assemblies under the Fisheries Act as LI 1961 is a subordinate legislation that cannot limit the scope of operation of substantive Acts of Parliament such as the Fisheries Act and the Local Government Act.

#### Criminal Procedure and Other Offenses (Procedure) Act, 1960 (Act 30)

In some limited circumstances, private persons may arrest other individuals without a warrant. This is provided for by section 12 or Act 30. For a private person to lawfully carry out an arrest without a warrant, the offenses either must have been committed in his presence

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Section 94(4), Fisheries Act, 2002 (Act 625).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Section 10(5), Local Government Act, 1993 (Act 462).

or he must have a reasonable suspicion that such an offense was committed. Such offenses must involve:

- The use of force or violence
- The offense must have resulted in bodily harm to someone
- An item must have been stolen or fraud perpetrated
- Injury must have been caused to a public property
- Injury to property owned by or in the lawful custody of the person

An arrest outside the scope of this provision is likely to be declared unlawful. Carrying out an unlawful arrest exposes the person carrying out the arrest to civil suits under the human rights and fundamental freedoms provisions in Chapter 5 of the 1992 Constitution.

If a private person conducts an arrest on the basis of reasonable suspicion, an offense must actually have been committed in order for the arrest to be lawful. If a private person, for instance a member of the FWCs, conducts an arrest on the basis of reasonable suspicion when an offense was not in fact committed, such an arrest is likely to be declared unlawful. Conducting an unlawful arrest exposes the person carrying out the arrest to civil suits under the human rights and fundamental freedoms provisions in Chapter 5 of the 1992 Constitution.

#### **CONCLUSIONS**

There appears to be no provision of law that prohibits the participation of "the people" in the monitoring, controlling, and surveillance efforts of the FC. The Fisheries Act allows the Minster of Fisheries to request for support for the FEU to enhance the capacity of the FEU. Such requests for support may be made to other government establishments, NGOs, or other recognized organizations. Therefore, the Minister may officially request recognized competent organizations such as the GNCFC or District Assemblies to furnish the Minister with lists of persons to be considered for the FWC program.

Issues such as the security of FWC members, their incentives and the legal relationship between members of the FWCs and law enforcement agencies should be addressed before the program takes off. These issues are complex and need thorough examination, as they remain challenging for even established and reputable community enforcement programs, such as the BD program in the Philippines.

#### RECOMMENDATIONS

In view of the power of the Minister of Fisheries, the limited resources available at the disposal of the FEU of the FC, and the success of the BD program in the Philippines, it is recommended that:

- 1. The Minister of Fisheries establish the FWC Initiative under Sections 2 (2) (o) and 94 (4) of the Fisheries Act, 2002 \*Act 625). This should be done with clear policy direction and should specifically request that recognized organizations, including the GNCFC and District Assemblies along the coast support and participate in the initiative.
- 2. The Minister of Fisheries should propose amendments to the Fisheries Act to specifically make provisions for the FWC Initiative (see Annex 1 of the related SFMP *Design Document* for possible language for a proposed Amendment). These provisions should identify clear jurisdiction and inter-relationships between institutions, the administrative and programmatic design, and sources of funding for the FWC program.

- 3. Thorough stakeholder analysis should be conducted to secure the buy-in of key stakeholders for the FWC program. How would stakeholders define success for the FWC initiative?
- 4. Ghana should review previous fisheries co-management initiatives in other contexts to inform the establishment of the FWC program
- 5. Volunteers should receive training and guidance, a Code of Ethics, and an Operations Guide that details the operations, roles and responsibilities, requirements, and restrictions
- 6. An inter-agency team should be established that includes police prosecutor(s) and/or lawyer(s) from the Office of the Minister of Justice and Attorney General's Department, to play an advisory role in the development and implementation of the FWC program
- 7. The FWC program should commence with a pilot program, to be reviewed and refined for scale-up
- 8. Develop a sustainability plan to determine revenue needs as well as methods for securing the necessary resources to establish, operate, and sustain the program

#### **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- Analysis of the Adequacy of Legislative Framework in Ghana to Support Fisheries Comanagement and Suggestions for a Way Forward, Dr. Martin Tsamenyi, 2013.
- Bridging the Security Gap in Ghana: The Role of Private Security Actors, Amadu Musah Abudu et al, 2013.
- Fishing for Justice: Human Rights, Development and Fisheries Sector Reform, Blake D. Ratner et al, *Global Environmental Change* 27 (2014),120-130.
- Ghana Coastal Fisheries Governance Dialogue: Developing Options for a Legal Framework for Fisheries Co-Management in Ghana, Tendayi Mutimukuru-Maravanyika et al, 2013.
- Ghana Coastal Fisheries Governance Dialogue: Presentations, Discussions and Outcomes from a Stakeholder Forum on Issues for Reforming Ghana's Coastal Fisheries, David Mills et al, 2013.
- Indigenous Knowledge and Maritime Fishing in West Africa: The Case of Ghana, Emmanuel Akyeampong (Chapter 16).
- Joining Forces to Collaboratively Manage Ghana's Fisheries Resources: The Role of a Fisheries Working Group, Donkris Mevuta and Theophilus Boachie-Yiadom, 2013.
- National Plan of Action to Prevent, Deter, Eliminate Illegal, Unreported and Unregulated Fishing, Republic of Ghana, 2014.
- Policy Framework for Fisheries Co-Management, Ministry of Fisheries and Aquaculture Development.
- Private Military and Security Companies: Security Actors without Accountability, Leonard Stenner, 2014.
- Security Provision in Ghana: What is the Role and Impact of Non-state Actors? Paschal Anayenle Badong, 2009.
- The Law of the Sea: Impacts on the Conservation and Management of Fisheries Resources of Developing Coastal States the Ghana Case Study, Theodore Kwadjosse, 2007.
- The Nwananchi-Ghana Experience: Using Innovative Communication Strategies to Enable Citizens to Participate in Governance, Participatory Development Associates, 2013.